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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Kootenay Savings Credit Union:
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kootenay Savings Credit Union (the "Credit Union"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, changes in members' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:






Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal
control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a
going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Kelowna, British Columbia
March 3, 2022

Chartered Professional Accountants

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
2021
Interest income
Member loans
Investments

2020

35,750
1,422

35,781
3,386

37,172

39,167

10,097
676

14,448
978

10,773

15,426

Net interest income
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses (Note 22)

26,399
(664)

23,741
929

Net interest income after provision for (recovery of) credit losses
Securitized loan expense
Other income

27,063
(254)
9,550

22,812
(288)
10,088

Net interest and other income, after provision for (recovery of) credit losses

36,359

32,612

Operating expenses
Personnel
General business
Occupancy

19,692
6,827
3,614

19,207
6,111
3,946

30,133

29,264

6,226

3,348

Interest expense
Member deposits
Borrowings

Net income, before property development, other items and taxes
Property development
Property sales
Cost of property
Operating expenses

2,964
(3,366)
(270)

140
(165)
(204)

(672)

(229)

Net income, before other items and taxes
Other items
Patronage and dividends (Note 16)
Gain (loss) on assets
Contributions to Kootenay Savings Community Foundation

5,554

Net income, before taxes

5,326

(138)
(40)
(50)

Income taxes (Note 14)
Current
Deferred

Net income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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3,119
(192)
190
3,117

916
(235)

615
(145)

681

470

4,645

2,647

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
2021
Net income

4,645

2020
2,647

Other comprehensive loss
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans, net of tax
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Unrealized fair value losses on investments arising during the year, net of tax

93

(30)

60
(606)

16
-

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax

(453)

(14)

Total comprehensive income for the year

4,192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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2,633

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)

Member
shares
Balance December 31, 2019

14,000

Net income

-

Patronage, net of tax (Note 16)
Net redemption of member shares
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans, net of tax
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of
tax
Balance December 31, 2020

Accumulated
other
Retained comprehensive
earnings
loss
60,540
2,647

(17)
-

Total equity
74,523
2,647

-

(137)

-

(137)

(515)

-

-

(515)

-

-

(30)

(30)

-

-

16

16

13,485

63,050

-

Patronage, net of tax (Note 16)
Unrealized fair value losses on investments arising
during the year, net of tax

-

(131)

-

(131)

-

-

(606)

(606)

(604)

-

-

(604)

-

-

93

93

-

-

60

60

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of
tax
Balance December 31, 2021

12,881

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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67,564

-

76,504

Net income

Net redemption of member shares

4,645

(31)

(484)

4,645

79,961

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities
Net income
Interest income
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses
Dividend received from associate
Equity pickup of investment in associate
Provision for income taxes
Decrease in the fair value of properties held for resale
Gain on segregation of mandatory liquidity pool
Loss on sale of property held for resale
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable
Other current assets/liabilities
Patronage payable
Interest received on member loans and investments
Interest received on investments
Interest paid
Income taxes (paid) recovered

Financing activities
Net increase in member deposits
Decrease in member shares
Equity portion of patronage dividends, net of income tax
Repayments from securitized mortgages, net
Net decrease in borrowings

2021

2020

4,645
(37,172)
10,773
1,578
(4)
(664)
100
(147)
681
96
(52)

2,647
(39,167)
15,426
1,902
(268)
929
100
(177)
470
72
(1,487)
6
-

(20,166)

(19,547)

(244)
(2,166)
(38)
38,852
1,629
(11,707)
(760)

549
1,361
(265)
34,753
4,892
(16,764)
116

5,400

5,095

125,105
(755)
(131)
(1,682)
(16,445)

92,748
(642)
(137)
(6,525)
(12,474)

106,092

72,970

(82,281)
(92,905)
(765)
236
(183)
1,100
(322)

(59,885)
(7,584)
(534)
(369)
4
-

(175,120)

(68,368)

Increase (decrease) in cash and interest-bearing deposits
Cash and interest-bearing deposits, beginning of year

(63,628)
212,192

9,697
202,495

Cash and interest-bearing deposits, end of year

148,564

212,192

Investing activities
Net increase in lending activity
Purchases of other investments
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Additions to intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of property held for resale
Proceeds from disposal of investment property
Additions to investment property

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
1.

Reporting entity information
Entity information
Kootenay Savings Credit Union (the “Credit Union”) is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is regulated
under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia and is a member of Central 1 Credit Union Limited ("Central 1"). The
Credit Union serves members in the Kootenay region and provides financial services through 11 branches, telephone and
on-line banking. The address of the Credit Union's registered office is 220-1101 Dewdney Avenue, Trail, British Columbia.
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements include, in addition to the accounts of the Credit Union, the accounts of Kootenay
Savings Insurance Services Ltd. ("KSIS"), Kootenay Savings MoneyWorks Ltd. ("KSMW") and KS Property Management
Inc. ("KSPM"), which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Kootenay Savings Credit Union. All inter-entity balances and
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with all IFRS issued and in effect as at December 31, 2021.
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on March 3, 2022.
Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical basis except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments.
Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.

2.

Change in accounting policies
Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period
The Credit Union adopted amendments to the following standards, effective January 1, 2021. Adoption of these
amendments had no effect on the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements.







IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment
IAS 38 Intangible assets
IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
IAS 40 Investment property
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
3.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
As the precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of consolidated
financial statements for a period necessarily involves the use of estimates and approximations which have been made using
careful judgment. These estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that the Credit
Union may undertake in the future.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are discussed
below.
Allowance for expected credit losses
At each reporting period, financial assets are assessed to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk has significantly increased, management develops a number of
assumptions about the following factors which impact the borrowers’ ability to meet debt obligations:






Expected significant increase in unemployment rates or interest rates
Declining revenues, working capital deficiencies, increases in balance sheet leverage, and liquidity
Expected or actual changes in internal credit ratings of the borrowers or external credit ratings of the instrument
The correlation between credit risk on all lending facilities of the same borrower
Changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit
enhancements

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial assets.
In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about prepayments, the
timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions and estimates about the
impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.
In estimating expected credit losses, the Credit Union develops a number of assumptions as follows:






The period over which the Credit Union is exposed to credit risk, considering for example, prepayments, extension
options, demand features
The probability-weighted outcome, including identification of scenarios that specify the amount and timing of the cash
flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes
The risk of default occurring on loans during their expected lives and during the next 12 months after the reporting
date
Expected cash short falls including, recoveries, costs to recover and the effects of any collateral or other credit
enhancements
Estimates of effective interest rates used in incorporating the time value of money

The above assumptions are based on historical information and adjusted for current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union determines adjustments needed to its historical assumptions by monitoring the
correlation of the probability of default and loss rates with the following economic variables:







Interest rates
Unemployment rates
Gross domestic product
Inflation
Loan to value ratios
Vacancy rates

The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes that are neither best-case nor worse-case scenarios. The Credit Union uses judgment to weight
these scenarios.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic:
As a result of COVID-19, there is a higher degree of uncertainty in determining reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information used in assessing significant increase in credit risk and measuring expected credit losses. The impact of the
pandemic on the long-term outlook remains fluid and uncertain, and forward looking information has been updated to the best
of the Credit Union's knowledge based on external economic data.
The current environment is subject to rapid change and to the extent that certain effects of COVID-19 are not fully incorporated
into the model calculations, increased temporary quantitative and qualitative adjustments have been considered and applied
where necessary. This includes borrower credit scores, industry and geography specific COVID-19 impacts, payment support
initiatives introduced by the Credit Union, the governments, and the persistence of the economic shutdown, the effects of which
are not yet fully reflected in the quantitative models. The Credit Union has performed certain additional qualitative portfolio and
loan level assessment if significant changes in credit risk were identified.
Financial instruments not traded in active markets
For financial instruments not traded in active markets, fair values are determined using valuation techniques such as the
discounted cash flow model that rely on assumptions that are based on observable active markets or rates. Certain
assumptions take into consideration liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for non-financial assets. Nonfinancial assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not subject to amortization, such as goodwill, are tested annually for
impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment if there are
indicators that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Income tax
The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all years open to audit based
on the latest information available. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Credit Union records
its best estimate of the tax asset or liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management
believes they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a
materially different outcome than the amount included in the tax assets or liabilities.
Classification of financial assets
Classification of financial assets requires management to make judgments regarding the business model under which the
Credit Union’s financial assets are held and whether contractual cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and interest.
Management has determined that the penalty to exercise prepayment features embedded in certain loans made to members do
not result in payments that are not solely payments of principal and interest because they represent reasonable additional
compensation for early termination of the contract.
Hedge accounting
In applying hedge accounting, the Credit Union uses the following key judgments:
1. An economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument based on a hedge ratio
The Credit Union uses the same hedge rating for the hedging relationship as the one that results from the actual quantity of the
portfolio of loans (hedged item) and the interest rate swap (hedging instrument). Interest rate swaps (hedging instruments) are
specifically transacted to economically hedge the portfolio of loans (hedged items). The fair values of the hedging instruments
and the hedged items move in the opposite direction because of the interest rate risk. Therefore, there is an economic
relationship between the porfolios of loans (or a portion thereof) and the swaps.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
2. Critical terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument
The Credit Union assesses at inception and in subsequent periods whether the following critical terms of the hedged item and
the hedging instrument have changed.





Notional amount
Maturity
Correlation between 3 month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate ("CDOR") and Prime rate
Weighted average interest rate

3. Effect of credit risk
The Credit Union enters into interest rate swaps as hedging instruments with a highly rated counterparty (Concentra (operating
as Wyth Financial)) (A rated). Therefore, Credit Valuation Adjustment on the hedging instument is expected to not be material
or volatile in a manner to dominate the value changes resulting from the economic relationship.
Further, the Credit Union considers its own credit risk as low (at December 31, 2021 the Credit Union was above policy and
target for all capital measures) and as a consequence, Debt Valuation Adjustment on the hedged item is not expected to
dominate the hedge effectiveness assessment.
As interest rate swaps are specifically transacted to economically hedge existing loans, application of hedge accounting will
align with the risk management strategy of the Credit Union and therefore, the Credit Union's hedging relationship and risk
management objective contributes to executing the overall risk management strategy.
For more information refer to Notes 21 and 22.
4.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Credit Union and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. Control is achieved where the Credit Union is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and it has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee. In assessing control, only rights which give the Credit Union the current ability to direct the relevant
activities and that the Credit Union has the practical ability to exercise, is considered.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in these consolidated financial statements
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
ensure consistency with those used by other members of the group.
Any balances, unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from inter-entity transactions, are eliminated
upon consolidation. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Credit Union’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same manner
as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Cash and interest-bearing deposits
Cash and interest-bearing deposits includes cash on hand and operating deposits with financial institutions.
Investments
Investments which meet the definition of financial instruments are measured and recorded on a basis consistent with the
appropriate financial instrument designation.
Investment in associate
The Credit Union's investment in its associate, Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. ("KIS"), is accounted for using the equity
method. An associate is an entity in which the Credit Union has significant influence.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost plus post acquisition changes in the Credit Union's share of net assets of the associate. The consolidated income
statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been a change recognized
directly in the equity of the associate, the Credit Union recognizes its share of any changes. Unrealized gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Credit Union and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associate.
After application of the equity method, the Credit Union determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional
impairment loss on the Credit Union's investment in its associate. The Credit Union determines at each reporting date
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Credit Union
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognizes the amount in earnings.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Credit Union measures and recognizes any retaining investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in earnings.
Member loans receivable
All member loans receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Member loans receivable are initially measured at fair value, net of loan origination fees and inclusive of
transaction costs incurred. Member loans receivable are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method, less any allowance for estimated credit losses. Interest is accounted for on the accrual basis for all
loans.
Acquisition of property in settlement of loans
Property acquired in settlement of loans is recorded at the lower of estimated net realizable value and the amount owing on
the loan. Losses arising on realization or reduction of the realizable value of such property are charged to earnings.
Inventories - property under development
Inventories are comprised of property under development and are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost
is determined based on specific identification. Cost comprises all costs of purchases, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing inventories to a saleable condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and sellling costs.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method at rates intended to depreciate the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives:
Years
Buildings
Buildings - HVAC
Buildings - improvements
Buildings - roof
Furniture
Equipment
Computer equipment
Vehicles

15-50
10-25
10-15
25
15
5-25
4
5

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis and the useful life is altered if
estimates have changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in earnings.

10

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
Intangible assets
Amortization of limited life intangible assets is charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for intangibles with finite lives are as
follows:
Computer software

4 - 16 years

The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis and the useful life is altered if estimates have
changed significantly. Gains or losses on the disposal of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in earnings.
Investment property
The Credit Union’s investment property consists of land and building held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation.
Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value which reflects market conditions at each reporting date, with any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value recognized in earnings in the period.
Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU’s, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU’s for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings.
Investment in insurance policies
Investment in insurance policies represents the cash surrender value ("CSV") of life insurance policies on the lives of
indemnitors on foreclosed members' loans where the Credit Union is the owner and beneficiary of the policy. The CSV of
the policies is recorded as an asset. Increases in the CSV of the policies, as well as death benefits received, net of any
CSV, are recorded in non-interest income.
Accrued liabilities and accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and accounts payable are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value due to the short term
nature of these liabilities.
Member deposits
Member deposits are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.
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Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
Securitization
For securitization transactions, loans are derecognized only when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these
assets have ceased to exist and substantially all the risks and rewards of the loans have been transferred. If the criteria for
derecognition have not been met, the securitization is reflected as a financing transaction and the related liability is initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs, using the effective interest rate method.
During the year, the Credit Union's securitization activity primarily involves sales of National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed
Securities (NHA MBS) through the Canada Housing Trust (CHT).
Mortgages securitized and sold as NHA MBS's continue to be recognized in the Credit Union's Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position as, in the opinion of the Credit Union's management, these tranactions do not result in the transfer of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying assets. Consideration received from CHT as a result of
these transactions is recognized in the Credit Union's Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as borrowings.
Member shares
Shares are classified as liabilities or member equity in accordance with their terms. Shares redeemable at the option of the
member, either on demand or on withdrawal from membership, are classified as liabilities. Shares redeemable at the
discretion of the Credit Union board of directors are classified as equity. Shares redeemable subject to regulatory
restrictions are accounted for using the criteria set out in IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar
Instruments.
Pensions and post retirement benefits
The Credit Union has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans, including participation in a multiemployer defined benefit plan.
In defined contribution plans, the Credit Union pays contributions to separate legal entities, and the risk of a change in value
rests with the employee. Thus, the Credit Union has no further obligations once the fees are paid. Premiums for defined
contribution plans are expensed when an employee has rendered his/her services. The multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan is accounted for using defined contribution accounting as sufficient information is not available to apply
defined benefit accounting.
In the other defined benefit plan, a liability is recognized as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.
Actuarial gains and losses have been recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Past
service costs are recognized immediately in earnings. Contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Excess (shortfall) of contribution payments over the contribution due for service, is recorded as an asset
(liability).
Income taxes
Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax is recognized either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, or the tax arises from a business combination.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The calculation of current tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets are
realized or the liabilities are settled. The calculation of deferred tax is based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base,
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable income.

12

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allow the deferred tax asset to be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realized.
Foreign currency translation
Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into their Canadian dollar equivalents at exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Carrying values of monetary assets and liabilities reflect the exchange rates at the
balance sheet date. Translation gains and losses are included in other income.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and initial measurement
The Credit Union recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Transaction costs
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss when incurred.
Classification and subsequent measurement
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The Credit Union determines the classification
of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the business model for managing the financial
assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets classified as follows:


Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using the
effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and derecognition are
recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of deposits with Central 1
and Concentra, investment in Central 1 bonds, investment in Bankers Acceptance, member loans receivable,
accrued interest receivable and accounts receivable.



Fair value through other comprehensive income - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment and foreign exchange are recognized in
profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of the financial assets are recognized in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are comprised of Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits.



Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized
cost, or fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All
interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. Financial
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of cash, certain other investments
and derivatives.
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Designated at fair value through profit or loss – On initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a
financial asset to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in order to eliminate or significantly reduce an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognizing the gains and
losses on them, on different bases. All interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are
recognized in profit or loss. Credit Union does not hold any financial assets designated to be measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

The Credit Union measures all equity investments at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of shares in Central 1 and Concentra and other
equity investments.
Refer to Note 22 for more information about financial instruments held by the Credit Union, their measurement bases, and
their carrying value.
Business model assessment
The Credit Union assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level of aggregation which
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Information considered in this
assessment includes stated policies and objectives, how performance of the portfolio is evaluated, risks affecting the
performance of the business model, how managers of the business are compensated, and the significance and frequency
of sales in prior periods.
Contractual cash flow assessment
The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal and interest on the
basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding, and other basic lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Credit Union considers
factors that would alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that might
limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the time value of money.
Reclassifications
The Credit Union reclassifies debt instruments only when its business model for managing those financial assets has
changed. Reclassifications are applied prospectively from the reclassification date and any previously recognized gains,
losses or interest are not restated.
Impairment
The Credit Union recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, other than
debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments. Expected credit losses are measured
to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable information regarding
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
For member loans receivable, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12-month period, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. For those financial assets for which the Credit Union assessed that a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from all possible
default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.
The Credit Union applies the simplified approach for other receivables that do not contain a significant financing component.
Using the simplified approach, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
all possible default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.
The Credit Union assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date. Regular indicators that a
financial instrument is credit-impaired include significant financial difficulties as evidenced through borrowing patterns or
observed balances in other accounts, breaches of borrowing contracts such as default events or breaches of borrowing
covenants, and requests to restructure loan payment schedules. For financial assets assessed as credit-impaired at the
reporting date, the Credit Union continues to recognize a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
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For financial assets measured at amortized cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets;
For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as a provision; and
For facilities with both a drawn and undrawn component where the Credit Union cannot separately identify
expected credit losses between the two components, as a deduction from the carrying amount of the drawn
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the carrying amount of the drawn component is presented as a
provision.




Financial assets are written off when the Credit Union has no reasonable expectations of recovering all or any portion
thereof.
Refer to Note 22 for additional information about the Credit Union’s credit risk management process, credit risk exposure
and the amounts arising from expected credit losses.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or the financial asset has been transferred under particular circumstances.
For this purpose, a financial asset is transferred if the Credit Union either:



Transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, or;
Retains the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes an obligation to pay
received cash flows in full to one or more third parties without material delay and is prohibited from further
selling or transferring the financial asset.

Transferred financial assets are evaluated to determine the extent to which the Credit Union retains the risks and rewards of
ownership. When the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it evaluates whether it has retained control of the financial asset.
The Credit Union engages in securitization transactions resulting in transfers not qualifying for derecognition, where
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been retained. For these transactions, the transferred asset continues
to be recognized in its entirety and a financial liability is recognized for the consideration received. Income on the
transferred asset and expenses incurred on the financial liability are recognized in subsequent periods.
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the financial
asset. At the same time, the Credit Union separately recognizes as assets or liabilities the fair value of any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount measured at the date of
recognition and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. Such transactions include the sale of loan pools.
Modification of financial assets
The Credit Union assesses the modification of terms of a financial asset to evaluate whether its contractual rights to the
cash flows from that asset have expired in accordance with the Credit Union’s derecognition policy.
When the modifications do not result in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
is recalculated with any difference between the previous carrying amount and the new carrying amount recognized in profit
or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
For the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, at each reporting date subsequent to the modification, the Credit
Union continues to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the modified financial assets from
the date of initial recognition.
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Financial liabilities
Recognition and initial measurement
The Credit Union recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, the Credit Union measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.
Where an instrument contains both a liability and equity component, these components are recognized separately based on
the substance of the instrument, with the liability component measured initially at fair value and the equity component
assigned the residual amount.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss.
When the transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition because the Credit Union has retained substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership, a liability is recognized for the consideration received. Subsequently, any expense
incurred on the financial liability is recognized in profit or loss.
All other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost include member deposits, trade and other payables, borrowings, member shares, and other
liabilities.
The classification of a financial instrument or component as a financial liability or equity instrument determines where gains
or losses are recognized. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss
while distributions to holders of instruments classified as equity are recognized in equity.
Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date the Credit Union becomes party to the provisions of the contract,
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
not designated as a hedging instrument are recognized in profit or loss.
The Credit Union designates certain derivative financial instruments as the hedging instrument in qualifying hedging
relationships in order to better reflect the effect of its risk management activities in the consolidated financial statements.
Qualifying hedging relationships are those where there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship, and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the actual quantities of the
hedging instrument and the hedged item that the Credit Union uses for hedging purposes.
At inception of the hedging relationship, the Credit Union documents the economic relationship between the hedging
instrument(s) and the hedged item(s), along with its risk management objective and strategy.
Cash flow hedges
The Credit Union uses cash flow hedges to hedge its exposure to the variability of cash flows related to variable interest
bearing instruments or the forecasted assurance of fixed rate liabilities. The Credit Union's cash flow hedges include
hedges of floating rate loans.
The Credit Union accumulates changes in fair value related to the effective portion of the hedging instrument in the cash
flow hedge reserve within equity. The effective portion of the hedge is equal to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The
ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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When the hedged item is a forecast transaction that subsequently results in recognition of a non-financial asset or liability,
the amounts accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are removed from equity and included directly in the initial cost or
other carrying amount of the asset or liability. This adjustment does not affect other comprehensive income, unless that
amount is a loss and the Credit Union expects that all or a portion of the loss will not be recovered in future periods. In this
case, the Credit Union immediately reclassifies the amount not expected to be recovered to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment.
Otherwise, amounts accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period(s) during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. The amounts
reclassified to profit or loss are presented in the same line item as the underlying hedged transaction.
When hedge accounting is discontinued for a cash flow hedge and the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur,
accumulated hedging gains or losses remain in the cash flow hedge reserve until such time as the future cash flows occur
and are then accounted for as described above. If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur,
accumulated hedging gains and losses are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.
Rebalancing and discontinuation of hedging relationships
If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no longer optimal but the risk management objective remains
unchanged and the hedging relationship continues to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging ratio is rebalanced by
adjusting either the volume of the hedging instrument or the volume of the hedged item to realign the hedge ratio with the
ratio used for risk management purposes. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in profit or loss at the time of rebalancing.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria,
including instances where the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.
Revenue recognition
The following describes the Credit Union’s principal activities from which it generates revenue.
Interest income
Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the financial liability. The
effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, except for the expected
credit losses of financial assets.
The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the instrument is measured on initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus any cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and maturity amount and adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The
‘gross carrying amount’ of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit
losses.
Interest income and expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of the financial liability.
Where a financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated in
subsequent periods by applying the effective interest method to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset
subsequently ceases to be credit-impaired, calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
Other income
The Credit Union generates revenue from other revenue streams including service charges, ATM surcharges, prepayment
penalties, mutual fund commissions, and insurance commissions. Revenue is recognized as services are rendered.
The member obtains the benefit of having the Credit Union perform a revenue generating service. This occurs immediately
when the service is performed; therefore, revenue is recognized at that point in time.
Management has not made any judgments in determining the amount of costs incurred to obtain or fulfil a contract with a
customer as it does not expect these costs to be recovered. Such costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregated of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
transferred, liabilities assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Credit Union in exchange for control of the acquirees.
Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Where appropriate, the cost of acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value (the date in which the Credit Union acquired control of the
acquiree). Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as
an asset or liability are recognized in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity
are not recognized.
The Credit Union recognizes any non-controlling interests in its subsidiaries either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiaries assets.
The acquired identifiable assets, and liabilities are recognized at their acquisition date fair values if they meet the definitions
of assets and liabilities for the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements at acquisition date and
they were exchanged as part of the business combination rather than as the result of separate transactions.
The following are exceptions to this recognition and measurement principle:



Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income taxes;
Liabilities or assets related to the acquiree’s employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured in
accordance with IAS 19 Employee benefits.

Fair value measurements
The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position using a three-tier fair
value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Credit Union to develop its
own assumptions.
Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, considering factors specific to an asset or a liability and may
affect placement within the fair value hierarchy.
Standards issued but not yet effective
The Credit Union has not yet applied the following new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards that have
been issued as at December 31, 2021 but are not yet effective. Unless otherwise stated, the Credit Union does not plan to
early adopt any of these new or amended standards and interpretations.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 - 2020 Cycle
The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 – 2020 Cycle, issued in May 2020, include a series of amendments to IFRSs in
response to issues addressed during the 2018-2020 cycle as follows:
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The amendments simplify the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary, that becomes a first-time adopter of IFRS standards
later than its parent by allowing the subsidiary to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by
the parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRSs.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The amendments clarify which fees an entity includes when performing the 10 percent test used to determine whether to
derecognize a financial liability. An entity shall include only the fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or lender on the other’s behalf.
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IFRS 16 Leases
The amendments resolve the potential for confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives by amending Illustrative
Example 13 to remove the reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor.
IAS 41 Agriculture
The amendments align the fair value measurement requirements in IAS 41 with the requirements in IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement by permitting an entity to use post-tax cash flows and a post-tax discount rate when measuring the fair value
of a biological asset using a present value technique.
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, issued in February 2021, help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful to primary users of financial statements by replacing the requirement to disclose
“significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose “material” accounting policies and providing guidance to
explain and demonstrate the application of the four-step materiality process to accounting policy disclosures.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and are required to be applied
prospectively. The Credit Union is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial
statements.
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
Amendments to IAS 8, issued in February 2021, introduce a new definition of “accounting estimates” to replace the
definition of “change in accounting estimates” and also include clarification intended to help entities distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.
IAS 16 Property, Plant, and Equipment
Amendments to IAS 16, issued in May 2020, prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be available for use. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, would be
recognized in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Amendments to IAS 37, issued in May 2020, specify that in assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost
of fulfilling a contract includes both the incremental costs and an allocation of costs that relate directly to contract activities.
The amendments also include examples of costs that do, and do not, relate directly to a contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.
5.

Cash and interest-bearing deposits
2021
Cash
Interest-bearing deposits with Central 1
Other interest-bearing deposits

19

2020

53,255
58,305
37,004

40,580
136,612
35,000

148,564

212,192
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6.

Property, plant and equipment

Land

Buildings

Buildings Buildings - Buildings HVAC improvements
roof Equipment

Computer
equipment

Furniture Vehicles

Total

Cost
Balance at December 31, 2019
Additions
Disposals

1,613
-

12,474
-

2,315
85
(33)

9,208
64
-

731
-

7,179
56
(7)

1,527
328
-

2,448
1
-

64
-

37,559
534
(40)

Balance at December 31, 2020
Additions
Disposals
Transfer to investment property

1,613
(14)
-

12,474
(257)
-

2,367
75
(37)
-

9,272
20
(185)
-

731
136
(29)
(59)

7,228
144
(2)
-

1,855
380
(102)
-

2,449
10
-

64
-

38,053
765
(626)
(59)

Balance at December 31, 2021

1,599

12,217

2,405

9,107

779

7,370

2,133

2,459

64

38,133

Balance at December 31, 2019
Depreciation
Disposals

-

5,043
272
-

1,107
74
(33)

5,644
441
-

491
15
-

4,899
461
(7)

1,134
203
-

2,131
50
-

64
-

20,513
1,516
(40)

Balance at December 31, 2020
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2021

-

5,315
177
(200)
5,292

1,148
83
(18)
1,213

6,085
446
(170)
6,361

506
16
(6)
516

5,353
441
(4)
5,790

1,337
250
(72)
1,515

2,181
50
2,231

64
64

21,989
1,463
(470)
22,982

1,613
1,599

7,159
6,925

1,219
1,192

3,187
2,746

225
263

1,875
1,580

518
618

-

16,064
15,151

Depreciation

Net book value
At December 31, 2020
At December 31, 2021

20

268
228
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7.

Intangible assets
Computer
software
Cost
Balance at December 31, 2019

6,393

Additions

369

Balance at December 31, 2020

6,762

Additions

183

Balance at December 31, 2021

6,945

Amortization
Balance at December 31, 2019

5,074

Amortization

385

Balance at December 31, 2020

5,459

Amortization

115

Balance at December 31, 2021

5,574

Net book value
At December 31, 2020

1,303

At December 31, 2021

1,371

21

Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021
($ in thousands)
8.

Investment property
2021

2020

Investment property, at fair value
Carrying amount, beginning of year
Additions to properties
Fair value adjustments
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Disposals

6,335
322
59
(860)

6,067
268
-

5,856

6,335

Investment properties are subject to external valuation performed by qualified valuation professionals on a regular basis.
The fair value of investment property is determined by discounting the expected cash flows of the parties based upon
internal plans and assumptions and comparable market transactions.
During the year, $476 of rental income from investment properties were recognized in earnings (2020 - $493) with direct
operating expenses of $278 (2020 - $252).
9.

Other assets
2021
Inventories - property under development
Accrued interest receivable
Deferred expenses
Prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable
Property held for resale
Other

22

2020

10,730
2,311
1,748
1,707
776
648
77

12,191
3,515
851
1,441
1,020
744
23

17,997

19,785
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10.

Investment in associate
The Credit Union has a 25% interest in Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. ("KIS"). As each of the investors have equal
voting rights and board representation, none are deemed to have control. The following table illustrates summarized
financial information of the Credit Union's investment in KIS:
2021
2020
Share of the associate's statement of financial position:
456
441
Current assets
Non-current assets
2,525
2,548
Current liabilities
(402)
(410)
Non-current liabilities
(98)
(145)
Equity
2,481
2,434
Share of the associate's revenue and profit (loss):
Revenue
Profit
Dividends received
Carrying amount of the investment

11.

1,558
147
(100)
2,178

1,588
177
(100)
2,131

2021

2020

Other investments
Equity investments
Fair value through profit or loss
Shares, Central 1
Shares, Concentra
Investment in Truvera Mortgage (Senior) 1 Limited Partnership
Investment in GCR Capital Inc.
Units of Southern Interior Innovation Fund
Investment in Ficanex Technology Limited Partnership
Investment in Ficanex Services Limited Partnership

Investments
Amortized cost
Investment in Central 1 bonds
Investment in Bankers Acceptance

Fair value through other comprehensive income
Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits

417
5,000
2,275
250
340
9
157

4,877
5,000
2,100
250
187
180
157

8,448

12,751

5,005
-

17,495
2,499

5,005

19,994

109,375

Fair value through profit or loss
Investment in insurance policies
Other investments

23

-

4,405
324

4,278
307

4,729

4,585

127,557

37,330
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12.

Member deposits
2021
Demand deposits
Term deposits
Registered savings plans

13.

2020

821,756
318,674
215,131

692,306
327,337
210,813

1,355,561

1,230,456

Borrowings
The Credit Union has loan payables and operating lines of credit in favour of Central 1 and Concentra Bank ("Concentra").
As at December 31, 2021, the Credit Union had not utilized either of these facilities (2020 - $nil).
The Credit Union may borrow a maximum of $3,127 utilizing operating lines of credit, term loan facilities and capital markets
lines of credit with Central 1, secured by a demand debenture and the general assignment of book debts.
The Credit Union may also borrow a maximum of $15,000 utilizing a revolving loan with Concentra, secured by a second
charge security interest, mortgage, pledge and charge over all of the Credit Union's present and after-acquired property.
As at December 31, 2021, $14,262 (2020 - $30,819) of securitized debt obligations were recorded in relation to MBS/CHT
program securitizations.

14.

Income tax
The total provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of income is at a rate below the combined federal and
provincial statutory income tax rates for the following reasons:

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rates
Credit Union and other reductions
Non-taxable and other items
Tax effects of amounts recorded in other comprehensive
income
Losses carried forward

Amount

2021
% of Pre-tax
income

Amount

2020
% of Pre-tax
income

1,438
(114)
(393)
(89)

27.0 %
(2.1)%
(7.4)%
(1.7)%

842
(71)
(279)
(22)

27.0 %
(2.3)%
(8.9)%
(0.7)%

(161)

(3.0)%

-

-

681

12.8 %

470

15.1 %

The tax effects of temporary differences which give rise to the deferred tax liability reported on the consolidated statement of
financial position is from differences between amounts deducted for accounting and income tax purposes.
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Net deferred tax is comprised of the following:
Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment
Other temporary differences

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for impaired loans
Post retirement benefits
Other temporary differences

Net deferred tax asset
15.

2021

2020

(417)
(188)

(585)
(193)

(605)

(778)

135
251
463

278
271
238

849

787

244

9

Other liabilities
2021
Accrued interest payable
Accrued liabilities and accounts payable
Derivative liability

16.

2020

4,569
4,260
-

5,502
6,410
143

8,829

12,055

Distributions to members

Net income
Patronage distributions
Dividends on patronage shares
Dividends on equity shares
Less: related income taxes

25

2021
Equity

Net income

2020
Equity

101
35
2
-

150
8
(27)

153
37
2
-

157
8
(28)

138

131

192

137
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($ in thousands)
17.

Member shares
Authorized:
Unlimited number of Class A shares, at an issue price of $1
Unlimited number of Class B shares, at an issue price of $1
Unlimited number of Class B (registered) shares, at an issue price of $1
Member shares issued:
2021
Member shares classified as equity
Class A, par value $1 each
Class B, par value $1 each
Class B (registered), par value $1 each

Member shares classified as liability
Class B, par value $1 each
Class B (registered), par value $1 each

2020

865
3,465
8,551

868
3,583
9,034

12,881

13,485

866
2,137

896
2,257

3,003

3,153

15,884

16,638

The Credit Union has two classes of equity shares. Class A equity shares are a membership requirement with a minimum of
5 shares per junior member and 25 shares for all other members. Class A shares may be withdrawn only upon close of
membership. Class B shares are patronage shares received by the membership through patronage refunds and dividends.
Class B share withdrawal limits and restrictions are set at the discretion of the Board of Directors based on the capital
requirements of the Credit Union. During 2021, up to 20% of the total Class B shares held by a member were available for
withdrawal. Full redemption of a member's Class B shares is allowed if the member is 65 years of age or older, upon the
death of the member, or upon close of membership due to a move to an area not serviced by the Credit Union.
Class B shares may be registered in a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA. In addition to the previous Class B withdrawal restrictions, full
redemption is allowed upon marital breakdown and in cases of over contribution, transferred back to non-registered Class B
shares.
As an overall restriction, in a given year, the maximum aggregate withdrawal cannot exceed 40% of the total Class B shares
within the Credit Union, unless approved by the Board. Funds invested in Class A and Class B shares are not insured by
Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation ("CUDIC").
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Class A
Balance, beginning of year
New shares issued
Transfer between share classes

868

4,479

31

-

-

Shares redeemed

(34)

Dividends paid to members*

-

Balance, end of year

Class B

865

Class B
(registered)
11,291

2021

2020

16,638

17,280

31

31

-

(24)

24

-

-

(303)

(781)

(1,118)

(1,295)

179

154

333

622

4,331

10,688

15,884

16,638

* Class A share dividends are paid in the form of Class B shares. Class B registered share redemptions are net of transfers
from Class B non-registered and Class B registered redemptions.
18.

Related party transactions
Key management compensation of the Credit Union
Key management personnel ("KMP") are defined by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union, including the Board of Directors,
ALCO Committee, executives and senior management.
2021
2020
Salaries and short-term benefits

1,859

1,852

CEO Compensation
For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021 the CEO of Kootenay Savings Credit Union received a compensation
package that includes the following:
Base Annual salary

$294

Bonus (Short term incentive)

$nil

(see below)

Compensation for the CEO is intended to be aligned with the organization’s overall short and long term objectives and
results, be competitive within the credit union system and be affordable within the economic environment.
The CEO’s base salary is determined by the Board of Directors. For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, the CEO
received a base salary of $294.
The CEO has the opportunity to earn up to 35% of base annual salary as a short-term incentive bonus based on the
achievement of financial, member, employee and community goals set out in our Member Experience Strategy. Based on
2021 performance goals and financial results, the CEO earned and accrued variable compensation that will be paid in 2022;
additionally, a one-time bonus of $20 was paid to recognize the CEO’s extraordinary work on the ESU merger project.
The CEO receives the same non-cash benefits as all other Kootenay Savings employees. In 2021, the value of these Credit
Union paid benefits was 10.77% of the CEO’s annual base salary.
The CEO also participates in a Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan ("SERP"), which Central 1 established to
compensate credit union employees whose benefits under the Pension Plan are restricted by limits imposed under the
Income Tax Act. In 2021, the CEO received 3.68% of base annual salary through the SERP.
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Credit Union compensation policy and practices
Kootenay Savings’ compensation philosophy is designed to attract and retain a high performance team that will be
motivated to effectively execute our Member Experience Strategy and achieve our mission to improve each member’s
financial life. This is achieved through a combination of cash compensation, variable compensation (bonus pay) and noncash benefits.
Kootenay Savings aims to maintain base salary levels in the median range (50th percentile), compared with credit unions of
similar size and those included in annual credit union compensation survey data provided by Central 1 Credit Union. In
2021, most management positions fell within the target range, while most non-union and union support employees' annual
base salaries were between the 50th and 75th percentile.
Management and non-union employees are eligible for short term variable compensation (bonus pay) if corporate goals for
financial performance, member satisfaction, employee engagement and community support are achieved as set out in our
Member Experience Strategy. In 2021, variable compensation was earned, accrued and will be paid in 2022.
All full-time and part-time employees receive a competitive benefit package, including employer paid healthcare benefits
and pension plan contributions.
Transactions with key management personnel
Loans made to Directors and KMP are approved under the same lending criteria applicable to members. KMP may receive
concessional rates of interest on their loans and facilities. There are no loans that are impaired in relation to loan balances
with Directors and KMP.
There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of Directors and KMP. There
are no loans that are impaired in relation to the loan balances with family members of Directors and KMP.

Aggregate of loans to Directors and KMP
Total value of revolving credit facilities to Directors and KMP
Less: Member shares included as liabilities

2021

2020

2,616
677
(2)

2,630
966
(2)

3,291

3,594

2021
During the year the aggregate value of loans disbursed to Directors and KMP
amounted to:
Mortgages
Loans
Lines of credit
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2020

1,391
55

95
380
32

1,446

507
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2021

2020

91
52

129
64

The total value of member deposits from the Directors and KMP as at the year-end:
Chequing and demand deposits
Term deposits
Registered savings plans

4,704
1,648
504

4,074
1,499
468

Total value of member deposits due to Directors and KMP

6,856

6,041

Interest and other revenue earned on loans to Directors and KMP
Total interest paid on deposits to Directors and KMP

Directors’ fees and expenses
Total
meetings
Anderson, Ron
Drinnan, Forrest
Konkin, Mike
MacDermid, Linda
Martin, Mark
Martin, Mike
Morris, Owen
Naqvi, Am
Parkinson, D. Robert (Bob)
Schnider, Roberta
Smyth, Keith
Other expenses
Total

12
14
14
14
14
14
14
10
14
14

Meetings
attended
12
14
13
14
14
14
14
9
14
14

Stipend
$

$

29

Expense
reimbursement

13
12
9
9
9
2
6
9
11
11
9

$

100

$

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
90
100
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Governance
& Human
Resources

Audit &
Operational
Risk

Conduct
Credit &
Review Market Risk

Member &
Nominating
Community
& Elections
Relations

Anderson, Ron

Meetings
attended

4 of 4

4 of 5

n/a

n/a

1 of 1

n/a

Parkinson, D. Robert (Bob)

Meetings
attended

n/a

2 of 3

n/a

8 of 10

1 of 1

n/a

Drinnan, Forrest

Meetings
attended

4 of 4

3 of 3

2 of 2

8 of 8

5 of 6

n/a

Schnider, Roberta

Meetings
attended

4 of 4

n/a

n/a

18 of 18

1 of 1

2 of 2

Konkin, Mike

Meetings
attended

5 of 6

6 of 6

n/a

14 of 18

1 of 1

1 of 2

MacDermid, Linda

Meetings
attended

6 of 6

n/a

4 of 4

n/a

5 of 5

2 of 2

Martin, Mark

Meetings
attended

n/a

2 of 3

n/a

15 of 18

0 of 0

4 of 4

2 of 2

6 of 6

2 of 2

n/a

4 of 5

2 of 2

6 of 6

n/a

4 of 4

n/a

1 of 1

4 of 4

n/a

6 of 6

n/a

18 of 18

5 of 5

n/a

Naqvi, Am
Morris, Owen
Smyth, Keith

Meetings
attended
Meetings
attended
Meetings
attended

n/a not a committee member
# of # attendance Director was only a committee member prior to or after the AGM
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Director Background
Tenure
Apr 2016 - Sep 2021

Profile
Ron, a Partner with Grant Thornton LLP, is a Chartered Professional
Accountant (CPA, CA). He is currently the President of the Castlegar
Curling Club and the Treasurer of BC Summer Swimming Association's
KO Region. Ron is a Past Board Chair and Lifetime Board Member of
Selkirk College and a Past President of the Castlegar Aquanauts Swim
Club.

Parkinson, D. Robert
(Bob)
Board Vice Chair

Apr 2010 - July 2021

After a career of over 45 years in the credit union movement, Bob retired
as President & CEO of the Vancouver based, Community Savings Credit
Union. Now a resident in the Arrow Lakes region, he is actively involved
in many aspects of his community. Bob served as Chair of the Credit &
Market Risk Committee for 10 years.

Drinnan, Forrest
Board Chair

Apr 1997 - Current

Retired from West Kootenay Power in 2000, Forrest has been a director
for 26 years. He is a past Peer Group 3 representative on Central 1 Credit
Union Board. He is also past President of Rotary, Trail Retirees Curling
and Rossland Trail Country Club; as well as past Chair of the LeRoi
Community Foundation, and Trail Regional Hospital Foundation. He is
presently Chair of Kootenay Insurance Services.

Konkin, Mike
Governance & Human
Resources Chair

Apr 2010 - Current

Mike is a Business Instructor at Selkirk College, as well as the owner of
Mike Konkin, CPA - a tax advisory firm. He is a Chartered Professional
Accountant (CPA, CGA), and has a Master of Business Administration
degree (MBA).

MacDermid, Linda
Apr 2011 - Current
Nominations & Elections
Chair

Linda has retired as a Commercial and Residential Property Manager
after more than 30 years in the Trail - Okanagan area. As as director in
the credit union system for over 25 years, she has been actively
promoting credit unions and the communities in the Kootenay area that
they support.

Apr 2010 - Apr 2019
Naqvi, Am
Audit & Operational Risk Jan 2021 - Current
Chair

Am has been a Chartered Professional Accountant (FCPA, FCA) for 34
years. He has served as President and Board Chair on the Hospital and
Library boards as well as a Director on the Board of the Columbia Basin
Trust. Am is past chair of BC Chartered Professional Accountants
Institute. He is currently serving as Vice President of the Kootenay Co-op
Store and the Police Boards for BC.

Martin, Mark
Credit & Market Risk
Chair

Mark is a Project Management Consultant dealing with municipal
regulation and land development, following a 20-year professional career
with the City of Rossland. Contract implementation, administration, and
follow up are his companies specialty. Mark orchestrated the major
planning process of turning Rossland into a Mountain Resort Community
with boundary expansion and updated legal framework. He has been a
Credit Union Director for 15 years. Mark has been involved in many
community organizations during the past 40 years from Emergency
Services to local service organizations, keeping with the community spirit.
Mark and his wife MaryEllen have two children, a daughter-in-law and two
grandchildren.

Anderson, Ron

Apr 2016 - Current
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Morris, Owen
Apr 2019 - Current
Member & Community
Relations Chair
& Conduct Review Chair

Owen has been a resident of the Kootenays and a member of KSCU for
over 30 years. He has a Masters Degree in Business Administration and
an undergraduate degree in Theology. As a younger person he flew jets
in the Canadian Armed Forces and was a volunteer fire fighter with the
Robson Fire Hall. He has taught Business, Marketing and Budgeting at
Selkirk College. He enjoys serving his community and working on his
hobby farm.

Schnider, Roberta
Board Vice Chair, July
2020

Apr 2013 - Current

Roberta has a diploma in Business Administration and has owned and
operated Full View Curtains for over 20 years. She has been an active
volunteer in her community and has served on the Board of Education
SD#6, the Columbia Valley Community Foundation Board and has
participated on many committees throughout the community and Regional
District . Roberta currently sits on the Edgewater Utility Advisory
Committee, the Advisory Planning Committee and the Electoral Area
Advisory Commission for the RDEK. In her home community of
Edgewater, Roberta is the chair of the Edgewater Recreation Society.

Smyth, Keith
Credit & Market Risk
Chair

Apr 2010 - Current

A retired education administrator, Keith has served as a KSCU Director
for 20+ years. He has served as member or chair of all KSCU
Committees. In a volunteering capacity. Keith has presided over, three
BC Games, National/International Tournaments, in addition to, successful
City Centennial and Festival Events. Always busy, he lives in Trail with
wife Gale and is fortunate to have close by two daughters and seven
grandchildren.
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19.

Capital management
The Financial Institutions Act requires the Credit Union to maintain, at all times, a capital base which is adequate in relation
to the business carried on. The level of capital required is based on a prescribed percentage of the total value of riskweighted assets, each asset of the Credit Union being assigned a risk factor based on the probability that a loss may be
incurred on the ultimate realization of that asset. Management considers capital to be comprised of the net assets of the
Credit Union and all components of members' equity on the same risk weighted basis as is prescribed by the Financial
Institutions Act and which amounts to $94,029 as at December 31, 2021 (2020 - $88,495).
The Financial Institutions Act regulations prescribe that the minimum required capital base ratio is 8%. As at December 31,
2021, the Credit Union has a capital base of 16% (2020 - 16%).
2021
2020
Primary capital
Retained earnings
Member shares
Deferred income tax
Dividends to be paid as primary capital

68,538
15,887
312

62,852
16,638
33
352

84,737

79,875

Secondary capital
Share of system retained earnings

14,023

13,089

Deductions from capital

(4,731)

(4,469)

94,029

88,495

Capital is managed in accordance with policies established by the Board. Management regards a strong capital base as an
integral part of the Credit Union's strategy. The Credit Union has a capital plan to provide a long-term forecast of capital
requirements. All of the elements of capital are monitored throughout the year, and modifications of capital management
strategies are made as appropriate. In addition, the Credit Union develops and works within a 5-Year Capital Plan. The
Credit Union makes periodic dividend payments on eligible member shares, within the context of its overall capital
management plan.
20.

Pension plan and other employee benefits
The Credit Union provides three types of retirement plan options for its employees. These include participation in a multiemployer defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”), administered by CUTrust; participation in a defined benefit
Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (the “SERP”), administered by the Credit Union; and participation in a money
purchase plan offered and administered by CUTrust. The annual cost of the pension benefits for the Plan and the SERP
have been determined by an independent actuary based on the accrued benefit actuarial cost method.
The Plan is a contributory, multiemployer, multidivisional registered pension plan governed by a Board of Trustees which is
responsible for overseeing the management of the Plan, including the investment of the assets and administration of the
benefits. The Credit Union is one of several employers participating in the 1.75% Defined Benefit Division of the Plan. As of
September 30, 2021, this Division covered about 3,500 active employees, 1,400 deferred members and approximately
1,330 retired plan members, with reported assets of approximately $1,036,000. At least once every three years, an actuarial
valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the Plan and the adequacy of the funding levels. The most recent
actuarial valuation of the 1.75% Division of the Plan as at December 31, 2018 indicated a going concern surplus of $31,600
and a solvency deficiency of $99,500, based on market value assets of approximately $735,000. Employer contributions to
the Plan are established by the Trustees upon advice from the Plan’s actuaries, including amounts to finance any solvency
deficiencies over time. The next formally scheduled actuarial valuation is for the reporting date of December 31, 2021 with
results expected to be available in September 2022. The Credit Union paid $1,922 (2020 - $1,924) in employer
contributions to the plan in fiscal year 2021.
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The Credit Union also provides additional pension benefits to certain eligible employees who are members of a
Supplemental Pension Plan. These non-pension benefits consist of contributions up to certain annual maximum limits
outlined in the plan agreement with respect to medical and dental benefits. Both plans are unfunded defined benefit plans.
Funding of the registered retirement plans complies with applicable regulations that require actuarial valuations of the
pension funds at least once every three years in Canada, depending on the funding status. The most recent actuarial
valuations were as of December 31, 2021 for the Retiree Benefits Plan and the SERP.

2021
Supplemental
pension plan

2020
Supplemental
pension plan

2021
2020
Post
Post
retirement
retirement
benefit plan benefit plan

Accrued benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, opening
Current service costs
Interest costs
Benefits paid
Actuarial gains

198
11
5
(26)

186
10
6
(4)

603
13
15
(22)
(110)

Accrued benefit obligation, ending

188

198

499

2021

2020

Supplemental
pension plan
2.80 %
2.00 %
2.00 %

555
12
17
(21)
40
603

Significant assumptions:

Weighted average:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Inflation
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Supplemental
pension plan

2021
Post
retirement
benefit plan

2020
Post
retirement
benefit plan

2.50 %
2.00 %
2.00 %

2.80 %
- %
2.00 %

2.50 %
- %
2.00 %
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21.

Derivative financial instruments
Notional
amount

Interest rate options purchased
Interest rate swaps
Index-linked options

40,000
40,000
1,574

Interest
payable

Risk
weighted
balance

-
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Equity options are transactions in which the Credit Union manages its exposure to changes in the value of index-linked
deposit products. Equity options purchased by the Credit Union, for a premium, provide the right, but not the obligation, to
buy or sell to the writer of the option, an underlying stock index. These options contracts are transacted on an over-thecounter basis. Two parties exchange cash flows on a specified notional amount for a predetermined period based on the
increase or decrease in an underlying stock market index versus a fixed interest rate. Notional amounts are not exchanged.
Interest rate swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange interest cash flows on a specified notional amount,
based on agreed upon fixed and floating rates for a specified time period. Notional amounts are the contract amounts used
to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged.
Fair value of the index-linked options and derivatives at December 31, 2021 were $1,574 and $33, respectively (2020 $500 and $8).
Foreign exchange forward contracts are used as needed to hedge the Credit Union's exposure to foreign exchange risk.
22.

Financial instrument risk management
All significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the Credit Union are either recognized or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements together with other information relevant for making a reasonable
assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk.
Risk management policy
The Credit Union’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The
Credit Union follows an enterprise risk management framework which involves identifying particular events or circumstances
relevant to its objectives, assessing them in terms of probability and magnitude, determining a response strategy and
monitoring progress. The Credit Union regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to take account of
changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is carried out by a number of delegated committees reporting to the Board of Directors. The Board
provides written principles for risk tolerance and overall risk management and management report to the Board on
compliance with the risk management policies of the Credit Union. In addition, the Credit Union maintains an Internal Audit
function which is responsible for independent review of risk management and the Credit Union’s control environment.
Financial instruments comprise the majority of the Credit Union’s assets and liabilities. The Credit Union accepts deposits
from members at both fixed and floating rates for various periods and seeks to earn an interest rate margin by investing
these funds in high quality financial instruments – principally mortgages. The primary types of financial risk which arise from
this activity are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk and foreign exchange risk.
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The following table describes the significant financial instrument activity undertaken by the Credit Union, the risks
associated with such activities and the types of methods used in managing those risks.
Activity

Risk

Method

Fixed rate savings products and funding
activities involving fixed rate instruments

Sensitivity to changes in interest rates

Sensitivity Analysis and stress-testing

Fixed rate mortgages

Sensitivity to changes in interest rates

Sensitivity Analysis and stress-testing

Equity linked deposit products

Sensitivity to changes in Canadian equity Options
indices

Foreign currencies

Sensitivity to changes in foreign currency Minimize overall Credit Union exposure

Investment of liquid resources in fixed
income securities

Sensitivity to changes in obligor credit
risk leading to default

Monitoring of investment restrictions and
counterparty risk

The main financial risks inherent in the Credit Union environment are credit, liquidity and interest rate risks.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is not considered significant at this time as the Credit Union does not engage in any active trading of
foreign currency positions or hold significant excess foreign currency denominated financed investments for an extended
period. Based on current differences between foreign currency financial assets and financial liabilities as at year-end, the
Credit Union estimates that a positive/adverse change in the US – Canadian foreign currency exchange rate of 1% would
result in a change in the post tax income of $6 (2020 - $5) principally as a result of the retranslation of foreign currency
denominated cash resources.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a Credit Union member or counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. Impairment
provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred at the consolidated statement of financial position date.
Significant changes in the economy of British Columbia and the Kootenay region of BC or deteriorations in lending sectors
which represent a concentration within the Credit Union's loan portfolio may result in losses that are different from those
provided for at year end.
Overall monitoring and processes will change as deemed necessary in response to the ongoing economic impact of
COVID-19. This has and will include changes to the current processes to ensure that the overall portfolio is secured and the
Credit Union will continue to support the customers and find their optimal credit solutions. The stages of expected credit loss
within the loan portfolio, if affected by COVID-19, will be adjusted as necessary as we progress through the pandemic.
Risk management process
Credit risk management is integral to the Credit Union’s activities. Management carefully monitors and manages the Credit
Union's exposure to credit risk by a combination of methods. Credit risk arises principally as a result of the Credit Union's
lending activities that result in member loans and advances and treasury activities that result in investments in cash
resources. There is also credit risk in unfunded loan commitments. The overall management of credit risk is centralized in
the Credit Market Risk Committee which reports to the Board of Directors and the respective operating units of the Credit
Union.
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Concentration of loans is managed by the implementation of sectoral and member specific limits as well as the periodic use
of syndications with other financial institutions to limit the potential exposure from any one member. The Credit Market Risk
Committee is responsible for approving and monitoring the Credit Union's tolerance for credit exposures which it does
through review and approval of the Credit Union's lending policies and credit scoring system and through setting limits on
credit exposures from individual members across sectors. The Credit Union maintains levels of borrowing approval limits
and, prior to advancing funds to a member, an assessment of the credit quality of that member is made. The Credit Union
emphasizes responsible lending in its relationships with members and establishes loans that are within the member's ability
to repay, rather than relying exclusively on collateral.
Loans to members
Loans to members consist of $1,145,473 (2020 - $1,030,867) residential and commercial loans/mortgages which are
secured against real property with a further $13,959 (2020 - $15,822) secured by other collateral. Loans to members also
include $12,505 (2020 - $13,367) of unsecured loans/lines of credit which consists of personal and commercial loans and
lines of credit.
The Credit Union often takes security as collateral in common with other lending institutions. The Credit Union maintains
guidelines on the acceptability of specific types of collateral. Collateral may include mortgages over residential properties
and charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable. Where significant impairment
indicators are identified, the Credit Union takes additional measures to manage the risk of default, which may include
seeking additional collateral.
The credit quality of the loan portfolio for those loans which are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference
to the Credit Union's internal rating system. The Credit Union assesses the probability of default using internal rating tools
and takes into account both statistical analysis as well as the experience and judgment of the Credit department. Retail
member loans are assessed based on a comparison of the loan to value ratio of the loan principal compared to the
estimated fair value of collateral. Commercial member loans are divided into five segments and are regularly reviewed and
updated as appropriate. Commercial member loans in the lower classes are not considered to be impaired taking into
account the repayment status of the loans and estimated fair value of collateral, except where indicated as impaired.
The Credit Union’s credit risk policies, processes and methodologies are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain
relevant and effective in managing credit risk.
To meet the needs of its members and to manage its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Credit Union
participates in various commitments and contingent liability contracts. The primary purpose of these contracts is to make
funds available for the financing needs of customers. These are subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk
management and monitoring procedures.
The Credit Union makes the following instruments available to its members:



Guarantees and standby letters of credit representing irrevocable assurances that the Credit Union will pay if a
member cannot meet their obligations to a third party
Commitments to extend credit representing unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans
(including lines of credit and credit cards), guarantees or letters of credit.

The amounts shown on the table below do not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many commitments will
expire or terminate without being funded. In addition, the off-balance sheet loans granted through Canada Emergency
Business Account are funded and guaranteed by the Government of Canada. As at year-end, the Credit Union had the
following outstanding financial instruments subject to credit risk:
2021
2020
Unadvanced lines of credit
Commitments to extend credit
Off-balance sheet loans granted through Canada Emergency Business Account
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137,458
57,836
20,800
216,094

132,807
57,271
15,840
205,918
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Inputs, assumptions and techniques
Definition of default and assessments of credit risk
Financial instruments are assessed at each reporting date for a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
This assessment considers changes in the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date as compared to the date of initial
recognition.
The Credit Union considers loans and advances to be in default when contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due or other objective evidence of impairment exists, such as notification from the borrower or breach of major covenants.
This definition is consistent with the definitions used for the Credit Union’s internal credit risk management practices and
has been selected because it most closely aligns the definition of default to the Credit Union’s past credit experience, and
the covenants placed in standard borrowing contracts. Relatively few financial instruments subsequently return to
performing status after a default has occurred under this definition without further intervention on the part of the Credit
Union.
Changes in credit risk are assessed on the basis of the risk that a default will occur over the contractual lifetime of the
financial instrument rather than based on changes in the amount of expected credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment the Credit Union takes into account all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking
information, available without undue cost or effort. The Credit Union considers past due information of its balances and
information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings, such as requests for loan modifications.
The credit risk of a financial instrument is deemed to have significantly increased since initial recognition when contractual
payments have exceeded 30 days past due, or other information becomes available to management (through the course of
regular credit reviews, communication with the borrower or forecasting processes which consider macroeconomic
conditions expected to have a future impact on borrowers).
When the contractual terms of a financial asset have been modified or renegotiated and the financial asset has not been
derecognized, the Credit Union assesses for significant increases in credit risk by considering the ability to collect interest
and principal payments on the modified financial asset, the reason for the modifications, and the borrower’s payment
performance compared to the modified contractual terms and whether such modifications increase the borrower’s ability to
meet its contractual obligations.
Where the contractual cash flows of a financial asset have been modified while the loss allowance of that asset is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union determines whether the credit risk of that financial
asset has improved to the extent that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. The Credit Union makes this determination by evaluating the credit risk of the modified financial
asset and comparing with documentation of the borrower’s initial credit assessment at the time of the initial borrowing. The
Credit Union considers the credit risk to have decreased when the borrower has demonstrated consistently good payment
behaviour for 2 – 3 months against the modified contractual terms. Subsequently, management monitors these assets by
tracking payment behaviours and relapse rates to determine the extent to which expected credit losses revert to being
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
The Credit Union identifies credit-impaired financial assets through regular reviews of past due balances and credit
assessments of its customers. Credit-impaired financial assets are typically placed on the Credit Union's watch list based on
its internal credit risk policies. In making this assessment, the Credit Union considers past due information of its balances
and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings.
Measurement of expected credit losses
The Credit Union measures expected credit losses for member loans receivable on a group basis. These assets are
grouped on the basis of their shared risk characteristics such as loan type (residential mortgages, commercial mortgages,
other secured loans or non-secured loans). Otherwise, expected credit losses are measured on an individual basis.
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When measuring 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union considers items such as the contractual
period of the financial asset or the period for which the entity is exposed to credit risk, determination of appropriate discount
rates used in incorporating the time value of money, assumptions about prepayments, timing and extent of missed
payments or default events, how probabilities of default and other assumptions and inputs used in calculating the amount of
cash short falls depending on the type or class of financial instrument. Forward-looking information is incorporated into the
determination of expected credit loss by collecting information available from regular commercial dealings with its
customers and other publicly available information and considering the effect such information could have on any
assumptions or inputs used in the measurement of expected credit losses, determining significant increases in credit risk or
identifying a credit-impaired financial asset.
Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.
Write-offs
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Credit Union assesses that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery when the security relating to the loan has been sold and there are remaining
amounts outstanding, the borrower has filed for bankruptcy and the trustee has indicated that no additional funds will be
paid, or when other factors indicate there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Where an asset has been written off but
is still subject to enforcement activity, the asset is written off but remains on a list of delinquent accounts. Where information
becomes available indicating the Credit Union will receive funds, such amounts are recognized at their fair value.
Significant increase in credit risk - COVID-19 impact
There are judgments involved in determining whether or not there is a significant increase in credit risk resulting in loans
moving between stages of expected credit loss and, therefore, being subject to different expected credit loss models.
Exposure to credit risk
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets assessed for impairment under IFRS 9
Financial instruments. The amounts in the table, unless otherwise indicated, represent the assets’ gross carrying amount.
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12-month ECL

2021
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit
impaired)

Total

Retail mortgages
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

571,863
-

225,168
-

442

571,863
225,168
442

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

571,863
120

225,168
268

442
34

797,473
422

Total carrying amount

571,743

224,900

408

797,051

Commercial mortgages
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

225,906
-

46,407
-

-

225,906
46,407
-

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

225,906
214

46,407
117

-

272,313
331

Total carrying amount

225,692

46,290

-

271,982

Retail loans and lines of credit
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

50,446
-

17,955
-

42

50,446
17,955
42

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

50,446
26

17,955
30

42
35

68,443
91

Total carrying amount

50,420

17,925

7

68,352

Commercial loans and lines of credit
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

4,134
-

1,315
-

341

4,134
1,315
341

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

4,134
1

1,315
1

341
134

5,790
136

Total carrying amount

4,133

1,314

207

5,654

Total members' loans receivable
Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

852,349
361

290,845
416

825
203

1,144,019
980

Total carrying amount

851,988

290,429

622

1,143,039
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12-month ECL
Retail mortgages
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

2020
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit
impaired)

Total

475,539
-

268,088
-

1,087

475,539
268,088
1,087

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

475,539
4

268,088
555

1,087
104

744,714
663

Total carrying amount

475,535

267,533

983

744,051

139,923
-

90,294
-

60

139,923
90,294
60

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

139,923
-

90,294
549

60
13

230,277
562

Total carrying amount

139,923

89,745

47

229,715

Retail loans and lines of credit
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

51,823
-

25,756
-

64

51,823
25,756
64

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

51,823
1

25,756
82

64
64

77,643
147

Total carrying amount

51,822

25,674

-

77,496

4,774
-

2,269
-

379

4,774
2,269
379

Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance

4,774
6

2,269
3

379
303

7,422
312

Total carrying amount

4,768

2,266

76

7,110

672,059
11

386,407
1,189

1,590
484

1,060,056
1,684

672,048

385,218

1,106

1,058,372

Commercial mortgages
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

Commercial loans and lines of credit
Low risk
Medium risk
Default

Total members' loans receivable
Total gross carrying amount
Less: loss allowance
Total carrying amount

As at December 31, 2021, the maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to financial assets without taking into
account collateral held or other credit enhancements is $1,569,469 (2020 - $1,466,282). The principal collateral and
other credit enhancement held by the Credit Union as security for loans include i) insurance, ii) mortgages over
residential lots and properties, iii) recourse to the business assets such as real estate, equipment, inventory and
accounts receivable, iv) recourse to the commercial real estate properties being financed, and v) recourse to liquid
assets, guarantees and securities.
Included in the Credit Union's maximum exposure to credit risk noted above is $2,178 (2020 - $2,131) for the maximum
exposure loss in its interest in Kootenay Insurance Services Ltd. This is the total adjusted cost base of the investment in
associate, which approximates the Credit Union's maximum credit risk exposure.
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Amounts arising from expected credit losses
Reconciliation of the loss allowance
The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial
instrument.

Member loans receivable
Balance at December 31, 2019
Provision for (recovery of) impaired loans
Write-offs, net of recoveries

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit
impaired)

Total

102
161
(252)

402
864
(77)

496
(96)
84

1,000
929
(245)

Balance at December 31, 2020
Provision for (recovery of) impaired loans
Write-offs, net of recoveries

11
284
66

1,189
(697)
(76)

484
(251)
(30)

1,684
(664)
(40)

Balance at December 31, 2021

361

416

203

980

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in prevailing market interest rates. Interest margins reported in the profit or loss may increase
or decrease in response to changes in market interest rates.
In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily upon use of asset - liability and interest rate sensitivity
simulation models, which is monitored by the Credit Union's Treasury department and reported to the Asset and Liabilities
Committee ("ALCO") which is responsible for managing interest rate risk. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into
interest rate swaps to adjust the exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the re-pricing of the Credit Union's financial
instruments.
Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union's financial instruments against a range of
incremental basis point changes in interest rates over a twelve month period. Interest rate shock analysis is calculated in a
similar manner to sensitivity analysis but involves a more significant change of 100 basis points or greater in interest rates.
Sensitivity analysis and interest rate shock analysis are calculated on a monthly basis and are reported to the ALCO
committee. Based on current differences between financial assets and financial liabilities as at year-end, the Credit Union
estimates that an immediate and sustained 100 basis point increase in interest rates would increase net interest income by
$1,796 (2020 - $2,186) over the next 12 months while an immediate and sustained 100 basis point decrease in interest rate
would decrease net interest income by $878 (2020 - $177) over the next 12 months.
Other types of interest rate risk are basis risk (the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship of interest rates which
have similar but not identical characteristic; for example, the difference between prime rates and the Canadian Deposit
Offering Rate) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss of interest income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate
mortgages and loans), both of which are monitored on a regular basis and are reported to ALCO.
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Interest rate sensitivity
Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Credit Union's financial condition to movements in interest rates. The carrying amounts of financial instruments are presented in
the periods in which they next re-price to market rates or mature and are summed to show the net interest rate sensitivity gap.
2021
2020
Variable rate Within one year

Financial assets
Cash and
investments
Member loans
Other
Total weighted
average interest
rate %

Financial liabilities
Demand deposits
Term deposits
Registered plans
Member shares
Borrowings
Other
Total weighted
average interest
rate %

On balance sheet
mismatch
Derivatives notional
amount
Net sensitivity

One to two
years

Two to three
years

Three to four
years Over four years

53,732
168,471
-

156,393
195,067
-

25,138
195,858
-

17,900
123,575
-

6,691
164,876
-

11,432
295,192
-

3.09

2.03

3.05

2.99

2.79

2.49

222,203

351,460

220,996

141,475

171,567

306,624

818,057
39,141
-

231,298
116,296
5,728
-

26,057
18,989
8,534
-

50,547
32,285
-

4,032
3,286
-

0.30

1.19

1.73

1.84

857,198

353,322

53,580

(1,862)

167,416

30,000

10,000

28,138

177,416

(634,995)
(634,995)

Total

249,522
1,058,372
4,558

2.58

2.83

7,999

1,422,324

1,312,452

4,081
2,189
-

3,699
2,659
2,945
3,003
9,141

821,756
318,674
215,131
3,003
14,262
9,141

692,306
327,337
210,813
3,153
30,819
12,405

2.03

1.88

-

0.65

0.97

82,832

7,318

6,270

1,381,967

1,276,833

58,643

164,249

300,354

40,357

35,619

58,643

(40,000)
124,249

300,354

4,835
3,164

Total

276,121
1,143,039
3,164

-
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-

21,447
(13,448)
(13,448)

40,357
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its obligations to members and
other liabilities. To mitigate this risk, the Credit Union is required to maintain, in the form of cash and term deposits, a
minimum of 8% liquidity at all times, based on total members’ deposits and non equity shares. At year-end, the Credit
Union’s liquidity exceeded the required level.
The level of restricted cash resources required is based on total deposits and other debt liabilities. Included in other
investments are restricted resources of $109,870 (2020 – included in cash resources are restricted resources of $102,231).
The Credit Union’s own risk management policies require it to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow
imbalances, to retain member confidence in the Credit Union and to enable the Credit Union to meet all financial
obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a prudent level of liquid assets, through management control of the growth
of the loan portfolio, securitizations and asset liability maturity management techniques. Management monitors rolling
forecasts of the Credit Union’s liquidity requirements on the basis of expected cash flows as part of its liquidity
management. The Credit Union's Board of Directors has set an overall borrowing limit of $100,000 (2020 - $100,000) as an
integral part of its liquidity management strategy.
23.

Fair value measurements
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
The Credit Union’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
Fair value

Level 1

Level 2

2021
Level 3

Assets
Cash
Shares, Central 1
Central 1 mandatory liquidity pool deposits
Other equity investments
Other investments

53,255
417
109,375
8,031
4,729

53,255
109,375
-

4,729

417
8,031
-

Total assets

175,807

162,630

4,729

8,448

Liabilities
Index-linked deposits
Derivatives

1,574
33

-

1,574
33

-

Total liabilities

1,607

-

1,607

-
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Fair value

Level 1

Level 2

2020
Level 3

Assets
Cash
Shares in Central 1
Other investments

40,580
4,877
12,459

40,580
-

4,585

4,877
7,874

Total assets

57,916

40,580

4,585

12,751

Liabilities
Index-linked deposits
Derivatives

500
8

-

500
8

-

Total

508

-

508

-

Level 2 fair value measurements
Valuation techniques and inputs for recurring Level 2 fair value measurements are as follows:
Line item

Valuation technique(s)

Inputs

Other investments

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
investments.

Discount rates based on credit
spread adjusted swap rates.

Index-linked deposits

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
investments.

Discount rates based on
current investment rates.

Derivatives

Fair value is determined using
the net present value of cash
flows attributable to the
derivative financial
asset/liability

Discount rates based on
CDOR and swap rates.
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Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The carrying amount, fair value, and categorization into the fair value hierarchy of all other financial assets and financial
liabilities held by the Credit Union and not measured at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:
2021
Carrying
amount
Fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Assets
Interest-bearing deposits
Investment in Central 1 bonds
Member loans receivable
Other assets

95,309
5,005
1,143,039
3,164

95,741
4,995
1,142,291
3,164

4,995
-

95,741
1,142,291
3,164

-

Total assets

1,246,517

1,246,191

4,995

1,241,196

-

Liabilities
Member deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities
Member shares - liability

1,355,561
14,262
9,141
3,003

1,377,611
14,679
9,141
3,003

-

1,377,611
14,679
9,141
-

3,003

Total liabilities

1,381,967

1,404,434

-

1,401,431

3,003
2020

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets
Interest-bearing deposits
Other investments
Member loans receivable
Other assets

171,612
19,994
1,058,372
4,558

172,914
20,169
1,088,832
4,558

-

172,914
20,169
1,088,832
4,558

-

Total assets

1,254,536

1,286,473

-

1,286,473

-

Liabilities
Member deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities
Member shares - liability

1,230,456
30,819
12,405
3,153

1,245,699
32,224
12,405
3,153

-

1,245,699
32,224
12,405
-

3,153

Total liabilities

1,276,833

1,293,481

-

1,290,328

3,153

Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments not measured at fair value
Valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:
All Level 2 fair value measurements use a net present value valuation technique and inputs consisting of actual balances,
actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.
As there is no observable market data for all fair values disclosed and categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy, the Credit
Union has assumed that the fair value of the amounts is comparable to the amortized cost.
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24.

Letters of credit and contingencies
Letters of credit
As of December 31, 2021, the Credit Union had issued letters of credit on behalf of members in the amount of $1,222 (2020
- $760). Of these letters of credit, $1,222 (2020 - $730) are secured by securities and/or monies on deposit; the remainder
by indemnities or personal guarantees.
Contingencies
From time to time, various claims and legal proceedings may arise against the Credit Union. The Credit Union vigorously
defends itself where appropriate and in instances where it considers it more likely than not to prevail, no provision is
recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
The Credit Union has been named in a class action suit, along with seven other British Columbia credit unions. No
claimants have come forward that are actual members of the Credit Union. The Credit Union feels that they are in a strong
position to successfully defend the suit, and as such, no provision is recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
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